
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT O F FLORIDA

Case No. 12-80206-CR-RYSKAm

26 U.S.C. j 7206(1)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

M ARY ESTELLE CURRAN,

Defendant.

/

PLEA AGREEM ENT

The Office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida and the United

States Department of Justice, Tax Division, (hereinaher referred to as the trmce'') and MARY

ESTELLE C (hereinaherreferred to as the ççdefendant'') enterinto the following agreement:

The defendantagrees to waive indictmentand plead guiltyto atwo-countlnform ation

charging the defendant with willfully m aking and subscribing a false U.S. lndividual Incom e Tax

Return, Form 1040, for tax years 2006 and 2007, in violation of Title 26, United States Code,

Section 7206(1).

The defendant is aware that the stntence will be imposed by the Court after

considering the advisory Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter

ççsentencing Guidelines'). The defendant acknowledges and understands that the Court will

compute an advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines and that the applicable guidelines

will be determ ined by the Court relying in part on the results of a pre-sentence investigation by the

Court's probation oftk e, which investigation will commence aqer the guilty plea has bten entered.

The defendant is also aware that, tmder certain circum se ces, the Court may depart from the
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advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed, and may raise or lower that advisory

sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. The defendant is further aware and tmderstmnds that the

Court is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined tmder the Sentencing

Guidelines, but is not bound to impose a sentence within that advisory range; the Court is permitted

to tailor the ultimate sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such sentence may be either

more severe orless severe thanthe SentencingGuidelines' advisoryrange. Knowingthese facts, the

defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court has the authority to impose any sentence

within and up to the stamtory maximum authorized by law for the offensets) identified in parapaph

1 and that the defendant may not withdmw the plea solely as a result of the sentence imposed.

The defendant also understands and acknowledges that the Court may impose a

statutorym aximum term of imprisonment of up to six years, followedbyaterm of supervisedrelease

of up to one year. In addition to a term of im prisonment and supervised release, the court may

impose a maximum fme of either $250,000 or not more than the Feater of twice the Foss gain or

twice the gross loss.

4. The defendnnt furtherundersunds and acknowledges that, in addition to anysentence

imposed under parapaph 3 of this apeement, a special assessment in the amotmt of $200 will be

imposed on the defendant. The defendant agrees that any special assessment imposed shall be paid

at the time of sentencing. lf a defendant is fnancially unable to pay the special assessment
, the

defendant agrees to presOt evidence to this Offke and the Court at the time of sentencing as to the

reasons for the defendant's failure to pay.

5. This Oftke reserves the right to inform the Court and the probation offke of a11 facts

pertinent to the sentencing process, including a11 relevant information concem ing the offenses

2

Case 9:12-cr-80206-KLR   Document 22   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/08/2013   Page 2 of 12



committed, whether charged or not, as well as concem ing the defendant and the defendant's

backgound. Subject only to the express terms of any apeed-upon sentencing recommendations

contained in this ap eement, this Om ce further reserves the right to make any recom mendation as

to the quality and quantity of punishment.

6. The United States apees that it will recommend at sentencing that the Court reduce

by two levels the sentencing guideline level applicable to the defendant's offense, pursuant to

Section 3E1.1(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the defendant's recognition and

affirmative and timely acceptance of personal responsibility. lf at the time of sentencing the

defendant's offense level is determined to be 16 or peater, the govem ment will file a motion

requesting an additionalone level decrease pursuant to Section 3E1.1(b) of the Sentencing

Guidelines, stating that the defendant has assisted autholities in the investigation or prosecution of

the defendant's own misconduct by timely notifying authorities of the defendant's intention to enter

a plea of guilty, thereby permitting the government to avoid preparing for trial and permitting the

government and the Court to allocate their resources effkiently. The United States further apees

to recommend that the defendant be sentenced at the low end of the guideline range, as that range

is detenuined by the Court. The United States, however, will not be required to make this motion

and these recommendations if the defendant: (1) fails or refuses to make a 111, accurate and

complete disclosure to the probation oftk e of tht circumstances surrounding the relevant offense

condud; (2) is found to have misrepresented facts to the government prior to entedng into this plea

agreement; or (3) commits anymisconduct aRer entering into this plea apeement, including but not

limited to committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, or making false

statements or misrepresentations to any govtrnm ental entity or offkial.
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This Offke andthe defendant apeethat, althoughnotbinding ontheprobationoffke

or the Court, they will jointly recommend that the Court make the following fmdings and

conclusions as to the sentence to be imposed'.

Under Section 2T1.1 (a)(1) and 2T4.1(H). the starting base offense level would be

level 20 as the relevant amount of actual, probable, or intended tax loss resulting

gomthe offense committed in this case and allrelevant conductis between $400,000

and $ 1 million.

b. Pursuant to Section 2T1.1(b)(2), because the offense hwolved sophisticated means,

two levels are added.

Ovemll guideline mnge: That the applicable guideline range tmder a1l of the

circumstances of the offense committed by the defendant is Level 22 with criminal

history category l or 41 to 51 months, less credit for Acceptnnce of Responsibility of

3 levels, for an adjusted ofense level 19 or 30 to 37 months.

8. The defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by the Court.

The defendant also is aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing mnge or sentence that the

defendant may receive, whether that estimate comes from the defendant's attomey, this Oftk e, or

the probation oftke, is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on the govemment
, the

probation office or the Court. The defendant understands further that any recommendation that the

government makes to the Court as to sentencing, whether pursuant to this apeement or otherwise
,

is not binding on the Court and the Court may disregard tht recommendation in its entirety. The

defendant tmderstands and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in parap aph 2 above
, that

the defendant may not withdraw her plea based upon the Court's decision not to accept a sentencing
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recommendation made by the defendant, the government, or a recommendation made jointly by

both the defendant and the government.

9. The defendant agrees to cooperate with the Intemal Revenue Service CtlRS'') in its

civil examination, determination, assessment, and collection of incom e taxes related to the

defendant's 200 l through 2007 income tax retum s, and further apees not to conceal
, transfer, or

dissipate ftmds or property that could be used to satisfy such taxes, penalties, and interest. The

defendant agrees to provide the IRS any documentation in the defendant's possession and/or control

requested by the IRS in connedion with its civil examination, determination, assessm ent, and

collection of such income taxes prior to sentencing. n e defendant further knowingly and

voltmtarilyagrees to waive anystatute of limitations withrespectto assessm ent and collection ofthe

defendant's individual and corpomte/entity tax liabilities concerning tax years 2001 through 2007
.

10. The defendantfurtheragrees that anyevidence, includingstatements and doclxments
,

provided to the United States by the defendant pursuant to a Proffer Apeement
, without any

limitations, can be utilized by the United States in its civil examination, determ ination, assessm ent,

and collection of income taxes related to his income tax returns and any related corpomte/entity tax

retums, or any other civil proceeding. The United States does not deem this, in any way, to be a

waiver of the defendant's attomey-client pdvilege with respect to any attomey
.

1 1. The defendrmt agrees to prepare and file accurate amended individual income tax

retums forthe tax years 2001 through 2007, by no later th%  the time of the defendant's sentencing
.

The defendant also agrees to payalltaxes, interest, andpenalties due and owing to the IRS
, including

all taxes, interest, and penalties on the defendant's individual income tax liabilities for the tax years

2001 through 2007, by no later tha11 the time of the defendant's sentencing. The defendant agrees
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that the taxes due and owing to the IRS, excluding interest and penalties, for the tax years 2001 to

2004, 2006 and 2007 are, at least, as follows:

YEAR 2001 2002 2003 2004 2:06 2007

TAX $30,549 $4,325 $ 12,284 $ 16, l 33 $ 197,042 $620,678

Nothing in this agreem ent shall limit the IR.S in its civil determination, assessment, and collection

of any taxes. interest, and/or penalties that the defendant m ay owe.

12. The defendant further agrees that in order to resolve her civil liability for failing to

file Reports of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts, Form s TD F 90-22.1, for tax years 2001

through 2007, she will pay a penalty in the amount of of $21,666,929, which is 50% of the year-end

balances of the undeclared accounts forthe year 2007, the year with the highest balances at year end

for calendar years 2001 through 2007.

The defendant agrees that any statements made by the defendant to the IRS and/or

in this apeement shall be admissible against the defendant without any limitation in any civil or

criminal proceedlg and the defendant stipulates to the authenticity and admissibility, in any civil

or criminal proceeding, of any doctlmentation provided by the defendant to the IRS. The defendant

hereby waives any protection afforded by Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence and Rule 1 1(9

of the Federal Rules of Criminal Proced>  with regard to any such statements and documentation
.

In the event that the defendant withdraws from this agreement pdor to pleading guilty and/or fails

to fully comply with any of the terms of this agreementa the United States will
, at its option, be

released from its obligations under this aveement, but under no cirolmstances shall the defendant
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be released from the apeements and waivers made by the defendant in this and the preceding two

parap aphs.

14.

United States Code, Section 129 1 afford the defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed in

The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 and Title 28,

this case. Acknowledging this, in exchange for the undertakings made by the United States in this

plea ap eem ent, the defendant hereby waives al1 rights conferred by Sections 3742 and 1291 to

appeal any sentence imposed, including any restittttion order, or to appeal the manner in which the

sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum pennittedby statute or is the result

of an upward departure and/or an upward variance from the advisory guideline range that the Court

establishes at sentencing. The defendant further understands that nothing in this ag eement shall

affect the govem ment's right and/or duty to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3742*) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. However, if the Unittd States

appeals the defendant's sentence pursuant to Sections 3742(b) and 1291, the defendant shall be

released from the above waiver of appellate rights. By signing this ag eement, the defendant

acu owledges that the defendant has discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this agreement with the

defendant's attorney. The defendant furthtr aptes, together with the United States, to request that

the Court enter a specitk  finding that the defendant's waiver of the defendant's right to appeal the

sentence to be imposed in this case was knowing and voluntary.

Case 9:12-cr-80206-KLR   Document 22   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/08/2013   Page 7 of 12



15.

There are no other ap eements, promises
, representations, or tmderstandings.

This isthe entke apeement and understanding between this Oftke and the defendant
.

Date:

Ilate:

oate, 
-
//,//s

0-,-, //p'.// y

W IFREDO A. FERRER

UNITED STATES EY

By:

H LE M . ETERSEN
Trial Attom ey

M ARK F. DALY

Senior Litigation Counsel
Tax Division

By:

By:

By:

United States Department of Justice

THOM A P. L AN

Assis United tes Attorney

NAT OCHM AN

Attom  fo ary lle

ROY LACK

Attomey for M ary Estelle Curran

By:

M AR STELLE CURRAN

DEFENDANT

Date: tow ?a
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 12-80206-CR-RYSKAM #

26 U.S.C. j 720641)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

V:.

M ARY ESTELLE CURRAN,

Defendant.

/

STATEM ENT OF FACTS

The United States Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Florida, the United
States Department of Justice, Tax Division, and the defendant, M ARY ESTELLE CURRAN,
stipulate to and agree not to contest the following facts, and stipulate that such facts

, in accordance

with Rule 1 1(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, provide a sufficient fachlnl basis for
the plea of guilty in this case:

OBLIGATION TO REPORT W ORLDW IDE INCOM E
AND FOREIGN BANK ACCOUNTS

The lntemal Revenue Service ClRS'') was an agency of the United States Depm ment of
Treasuryresponsible foradministeringand enforcingthe tax lawsof theunited States and collecting
the taxes owed to the Treasury of the United States.

United States citizens, resident aliens, and legal permanent residents of the United States

were required to file an individual income tax rettzm with the IRS reporting their worldwide income
for each year if their gross income exceeded a certain amount.

United States citizens, residentaliens, and legalpermanentresidents of theunited States had
an obligation to report to the G S on the Schedule B of a U .S. lndividual Income Tax Retum , Form
1040, whether that individual had a fmancial interest 1

, or signature authority over, a fmancial
account in a foreign country in a pm icular year by checking çlYes'' or ççNo'' in the appropriate box

and identifying the country where the account was maintained. United States citizens and residents
had an obligation to report a1l income eam ed from foreign brmk accounts on the tax rettum

.

United States citizens, residentalie>,udlegalper u entresidents oftheunited States who
had a financial interest in, or sir ature authority over, one or more fmancial accounts in a foreign
country with an aggregate value of more tha11 $10,000 at any time during a particular year were
required to file with the Department of the Treasury a Report of Foreign Bank and Financial
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Accounts on Fonn TD F 90-22.1 (the tTBARD. The FBAR for the applicable year was due by
June 30 of the following year.

An ççundeclared account'' was a fmancial account m aintained in a foreign country that has

not been reported to the Urtited States government on a tax retum and an FBAR.

UBS AG

UBS AG, a corporation organized under the laws of Switzerland, directly and tllrough its
subsidiaries, operated a global fmancial services busintss. As one of the biggest banks in

Switzerland and largest wealthmanagers in the world, UBS provided bnnking, wealth management,

asset management and investment bnnking services, amonj other services, around the globe,
including throughbranches located inthe United States (includmgthe Southem Districtof Flolidal.

BACKGRO UND

M ARY ESTELLE CURRAN was a citizen of the United States and resident of Palm Beach

Cotmty, Florida during a11 times relevant. ln or about 2000, the defendant's late husband died and

the defendnnt inherited an undeclared foreign fmancial account at UBS AG in the name of the
Flor et Foundation, a nominee Liechtenstein foundation that the defendant's late husband had

created.

On or aboutltme 28, 2007, aUBS AG account in the name ofNoregahw estment
, anom inee

Panamanian com oration, was opened at UBS AG, with M ARY ESTELLE CIJRM N as the

benetk ial owner of the accolmt. On or about June 16, 2008, the Fiduciades managing the
defendant's account atUBS AG closedthose accounts andtransferred the contents to anew account

opened in the name of Norega lnvestment at a bank in the Principality of Liechtenstein.

From 2001 to 2008, the defendant held substnntial balances in her tmdeclared offshore

accounts. The highest year-end agpegate closing balance of the defendant's tmdeclared accounts

exceeded $43 million in 2007. From 2001 through 2008, despite having an agpegate balance of
over $ 10,000 in the defendant's accotmts attœ s AG, the defendant failed to file an FBAR with the
United States Treasury as required by law .

TAx RETURN INFORM ATION

For the yeao 2001 through 2007, the defendant was required to file a U .S. Individual
Incom e Tax Retum , Form  1040, to report her worldwide income, and to declare the existence of
any foreir  based financial accounts at UBS AG in Switzerland in which she had a financial
interest or sir ature authority over that contained assets in excess of $10

,000. The defendant
filed U.S. lndividual Income Tax Retum s, Form s 1040, with the IR.S for tax years 2001 tk ough
2007. Each year, the defendant willfully failed to report on those tax returns any income earned

on the accounts that she held at UBS AG in Switzerland. In addition, each year, the defendant
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failed to disclose that she had an interest in or sir ature or other authority over a fmancial

account in a foreign country.

Specifically, on or about April 15, 2007, the defendant filed a U.S. Individual Income Tax

Return Form 1040 for the year 2006. The return bore the sir ature of the defendant and was

signed tmder the penalties of perjury with the declaration that the return and accompanying
schedules and statements were examined by the defendant and that to the best of the defendant's

knowledge and beliefl the retllrn and accompanying schedules were true, correct, and complete.
The 2006 U.S. lndividual Income TM  Retum , Form 1040

, was made and subscdbed within the
Southem  District of Florida. The defendant willfully failed to tell the accountant who prepared
the 2006 tax return about the existence of the accotmts at UBS AG and the income earned from

those accounts.

On Schedule B, Part 1I1 of the 2006 tax retum, the defendant failed to reyort that she had
an interest in or a sir ature authority over financial accounts at UBS AG in Swltzerland and she

failed to report dividend and interest income derived from the accotmts at UBS AG .

Additionally, Line 22 on the Form 1040 was false it substantially tmderreported the defendant's

total incom e.

On or about April 15, 2008, the defendant filed a U.S. Individual Income Tax Retum

Form 1040 for the year 2007. The return bore the signature of the defendant and was signed

under the penalties of perjury with the declamtion that the retum and accompanying schedules
and statements were examined by the defendant and that to the best of the defendant's knowledge

and belietl the return and accompanying schedules were true, correct, and complete. The 2007
U.S. Individual lncome Tax Retllrn, Form 1040, was made and subscribed within the Southem

District of Florida. The defendant willfully failed to tell the accountant who prepared the 2007

tax return about the existence of the accounts at UBS AG and the income earned from those

accounts.

On Schedule B, Part 1l1 of the 2007 tax retum, the defendant failed to report that she had

an interest in or a sir ature authority over financial accounts at UBS AG in Switzerland and she
failed to report dividend and interest income derived from the accounts at UBS AG

.

Additionally, Line 22 on the Form 1040 was false it substantially underreported the defendant's

total incom e.
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Tu  LOS:

The tax loss for the defendant totals $667,716 and can be broken down as follows:

YEAR 2001 2002 2063 2904 2005 2006 201)7

TAX $3:,549 $4.325 $12,284 $16,133 ($213.295) $197,:42 $620.678
LOSS

Respectfully submitted,

KATHYRN KENEALLY

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENEM L

TAX DM SION

W IFREDO FERRER

U.S. ATTORNEY

LBy:
O S P. IGAN

ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORHM

<

By:

M ARK F. DALY
SENIOR LITIGATION COUNSEL

M ICHELLE M . PETERSEN

TRIAL ATTORNEY

U.S. DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE
Tu  DM SION

J  -- A uuyu...vBy:
M AR ESTELLE CURRAN
DEFENDANT

By:

NATHAN A HOCHM AN

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
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